ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Greenville County

Honorable Alex Kinlaw, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

LORGIO D. MORALES,

PETITIONER

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2019-000072

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

Joanna K. Delany
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

RECEIVED

SEP 04 2019

S.C. SUPREME COURT

ISSUES PRESENTED

1.

Whether the court erred where it found counsel provided effective representation where counsel did not file a notice of appeal after petitioner's trial, and where there was no evidence petitioner knowingly and intelligently waived his right to appeal, since absent an intelligent waiver by petitioner, counsel was obliged to initiate an appeal or comply with the procedure in *Anders v. California*, 386 U.S. 738 (1967)?

2.

Whether the court erred where it found counsel provided effective representation despite counsel's failure to assert petitioner's right to a speedy trial, where drugs were found in 2012 but the state did not arrest petitioner until 2015 and did not try petitioner until 2018, since the delay violated petitioner's constitutional right to a speedy trial?

STATEMENT

A Greenville County Grand Jury indicted petitioner for the offenses of: trafficking marijuana; manufacturing marijuana; theft of electrical current; and tampering with a utility meter for the purpose of growing a controlled substance. App. 319 – 326. Petitioner was tried before the Honorable Edward W. Miller and a jury, from February 5 – 6, 2018. App. 1. Petitioner retained Scott David Robinson to represent him. App. 1; App. 248, ll. 18-20. Katryna Owens represented the state. App. 1.

The state alleged that petitioner assisted in a large marijuana-growing operation that took place in a rented warehouse. App. 67, ll. 3-24; App. 161, ll. 4-11. After feeling a wave of heat when Duke Power cut off the electricity to the warehouse, police officers entered and found marijuana. App. 56, l. 12 – 59, l. 2; App. 66, l. 25 – 67, l. 24. Ultimately, six hundred and eighty-seven marijuana plants, and one hundred and twenty-five pounds of packaged marijuana were found. App. 154, ll. 2-7; App. 155, ll. 2-6. Thirty fingerprints that matched to petitioner were collected from the living area of the warehouse and from various objects in the warehouse including an electrical panel, air conditioning unit, and lamp hood. App. 85, ll. 12-14; App. 79, l. 23 – 85, l. 3.

Petitioner was convicted as indicted and he was sentenced to concurrent terms of imprisonment for twenty-five years; twenty years; time served; and ten years, respectively. App. 225, ll. 8-12. Petitioner also received a twenty-five thousand dollar fine. App. 225, ll. 8-12. Defense counsel did not file a notice of appeal.

On May 24, 2018, petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief (PCR), and alleged, inter alia, that counsel provided ineffective assistance when he failed to file a direct appeal and when he failed to move for a speedy trial. App. 228 – 236. A hearing was held before

the Honorable Alex Kinlaw, Jr., on December 17, 2018. App. 244. R. Mills Ariail, Jr., represented petitioner. App. 244. Janell H. Gregory represented the state. App. 244.

Petitioner explained that he wanted to appeal his convictions and sentences. Petitioner said, “I wanted to appeal. But I was in Kirkland [Correctional Institution]. And I had no access to a phone, no access to—to any address of his. There’s no way I could have contacted [defense counsel].” App. 265, ll. 14-16.

Critically, defense counsel Robinson never testified that he had discussed the possibility of an appeal with petitioner, and there was no evidence that counsel asked petitioner if he wanted to appeal. Instead, counsel said only that petitioner did not ask him to file an appeal. App. 280, ll. 1-2. Counsel added that “they’ve got rules now as far as appeals, you can’t just file these appeals that are not necessary.” App. 280, ll. 10-12. Despite the fact that petitioner had the right to appeal his conviction at trial, counsel said that he did not file a notice of appeal because he (counsel) did not believe there were any meritorious grounds for appeal. App. 280, ll. 6-10. Nevertheless, counsel did not comply with the procedure in *Anders v. California*, 386 U.S. 738 (1967).¹

Petitioner also told the PCR court that he had “wanted a fast and speedy trial,” that there was a three year delay between his arrest and his trial, and it was asserted that counsel was ineffective for failing to move for a speedy trial. App. 262, l. 17 – 263, l. 17. Petitioner also

¹ *Anders* provides that when counsel believes an appeal to be “wholly frivolous, after conscientious examination of it, he should so advise court and request permission to withdraw.” *Anders v. California*, 386 U.S. 738, 744 (1967). However, that request must be accompanied by a “brief referring to anything in the record that might arguably support the appeal.” *Id.* A copy of counsel’s brief should be furnished to the defendant with time allowed to raise any points that he chooses, whereupon the court should proceed, after full examination of all proceedings, to decide whether the case is wholly frivolous, granting counsel’s request to withdraw if it finds the case to be frivolous, and affording assistance of counsel to argue the appeal if it finds legal points arguable on their merits. *Id.*

explained he was in Miami, Florida, prior to arrest but said that he remained in Spartanburg after his arrest and until his trial. App. 262, l. 25 – 263, l. 12.

Counsel agreed that there was a three year delay between the discovery of the marijuana and petitioner's arrest and that there was another three year delay between petitioner's arrest and his trial. Nevertheless, counsel said he did not think petitioner had been prejudiced. App. 282, l. 11 – 283, l. 22. Counsel also claimed petitioner had "several charges in Florida" and had to be extradited to South Carolina. App. 283, ll. 2-17.

When it issued an order of dismissal, the PCR court found that counsel's testimony was credible, and that petitioner's testimony was not credible. App. 309. As to counsel's failure to file an appeal, the PCR court wrote, "This Court finds credible [c]ounsel's testimony that [petitioner] never asked [c]ounsel to appeal his conviction. This Court finds credible [c]ounsel's testimony that he would have filed an appeal on [petitioner's] behalf if such a request had been made." App. 315.

The order of dismissal also addressed petitioner's claim of ineffective assistance based on counsel's failure to move for a speedy trial. App. 311 – 312. The court noted that there was a three year delay between petitioner's arrest and his trial, but found counsel was not deficient "because the delay in [petitioner's] trial was due, at least in part, to his extradition from Miami, Florida." App. 312. The order also stated that petitioner suffered no prejudice because he was "out on bond" until his trial began, and he "failed to provide any testimony showing how the delay affected his ability to prepare and present a defense in his case." App. 312.

This petition for writ of certiorari follows.

ARGUMENT

1.

The court erred where it found counsel provided effective representation where counsel did not file a notice of appeal after petitioner’s trial, and where there was no evidence petitioner knowingly and intelligently waived his right to appeal, since absent an intelligent waiver by petitioner, counsel was obliged to initiate an appeal or comply with the procedure in *Anders v. California*, 386 U.S. 738 (1967).

Counsel’s failure to file an appeal was deficient performance—he failed to consult with petitioner about an appeal, he failed to file Notice of Appeal, and petitioner had received a twenty-five year term of imprisonment and a twenty-five thousand dollar fine upon his conviction at trial.

A defendant must knowingly and intelligently waive the right to appeal from his conviction and sentence. *White v. State*, 263 S.C. 110, 118, 208 S.E.2d 35, 39 (1974). **“Following a trial, counsel is required to make certain the defendant is made fully aware of the right to appeal. In the absence of an intelligent waiver by the defendant, counsel must either initiate an appeal or comply with the procedure in *Anders v. California*, 386 U.S. 738 (1967).”** *Turner v. State*, 380 S.C. 223, 224, 670 S.E.2d 373, 374 (2008) (emphasis added). Here, petitioner was convicted pursuant to a trial—counsel’s failure to initiate a direct appeal or comply with *Anders* constituted ineffective assistance of counsel.

After a client is convicted and sentenced, “[c]ounsel should give the client his professional judgment whether an appeal should be taken and ascertain whether the client wishes to appeal.” *Matter of Anonymous Member of the Bar*, 303 S.C. 306, 307, 400 S.E.2d 483, 483 (1991). An attorney, even if retained only for purposes of trial, “must serve and file Notice of

Appeal to protect the client’s right to appeal.” *Id.* “Counsel has a constitutionally imposed duty to consult with the defendant about an appeal when there is reason to think either (1) that a rational defendant would want to appeal (for example, because there are nonfrivolous grounds for appeal), or (2) that this particular defendant reasonably demonstrated to counsel that he was interested in appealing.” *Roe v. Flores-Ortega*, 528 U.S. 470, 480 (2000). Here, counsel’s failure to consult with petitioner about his right to appeal was deficient performance. Any rational defendant would want to appeal—petitioner was convicted pursuant to a trial and he received a lengthy term of incarceration and a large fine.

The defendant has the ultimate authority to make certain fundamental decisions regarding his case, including the decision whether to take an appeal. *Jones v. Barnes*, 463 U.S. 745, 751 (1983). Some decisions “are reserved for the client—notably, whether to plead guilty, waive the right to a jury trial, testify in one’s own behalf, and forgo an appeal.” *McCoy v. Louisiana*, 138 S.Ct. 1500, 1503 (2018). Here, counsel’s decision not to file an appeal was an illegitimate one, since it was not counsel’s decision to make.

The PCR court erred in denying petitioner a belated appeal since there was no evidence that petitioner knowingly and voluntarily waived his right to appeal. In *Simuel v. State*, 390 S.C. 267, 270, 701 S.E.2d 738, 739 (2010), this Court found the PCR court erred in denying Simuel a belated appeal pursuant to *White v. State, supra*, where there was “no probative evidence that [trial counsel] informed Petitioner of his right to a direct appeal, nor [was] there any evidence that Petitioner waived his right to a direct appeal.” In *Simuel*, trial counsel “testified at the PCR hearing that he normally informs his clients of their right to appeal after trials. He did not specifically recall informing Petitioner of his right to appeal, but testified that he probably had that discussion with Petitioner.” *Id.* at 269, 701 S.E.2d at 738. Trial counsel also testified Simuel

never asked him to appeal. *Id.* at 269, 701 S.E.2d at 739. The PCR court found trial counsel's testimony was credible, Simuel's testimony was not credible, and counsel's testimony showed Simuel never asked counsel to file an appeal. *Id.*

In reversing the decision of the PCR court and granting Simuel a belated appeal, this Court explained: "To waive a direct appeal, a defendant must make a knowing and intelligent decision not to pursue the appeal." *Id.* (internal quotations omitted) (quoting *Sheppard v. State*, 357 S.C. 646, 651, 594 S.E.2d 462, 465 (2004)). "Even considering the PCR judge's credibility findings, there is no probative evidence that: (1) Petitioner knowingly waived his right to a direct appeal, and (2) [trial counsel] made certain Petitioner was fully aware of his right to appeal." *Id.* at 271, 701 S.E.2d 739-40.

Here, as in *Simuel*, even considering the PCR court's credibility findings, there was no evidence in the record that petitioner made an intelligent waiver of his right to appeal, and there was no evidence that counsel made certain petitioner was fully aware of his right to appeal.

The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution guarantees an accused the right to effective assistance of counsel. U.S. CONST. amend. VI; *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). Since petitioner did not waive his right to appeal, counsel was obliged to pursue an appeal and he did not do so. "When counsel's constitutionally deficient performance deprives a defendant of an appeal that he otherwise would have taken, the defendant has made out a successful ineffective assistance of counsel claim entitling him to an appeal." *Roe v. Flores-Ortega*, 528 U.S. at 484. Where there is no probative evidence that (1) a defendant knowingly waived his right to a direct appeal, and (2) counsel made certain the defendant was fully aware of

his right to appeal, the PCR court should grant an applicant a belated appeal. *Simuel*, 390 S.C. at 271, 701 S.E.2d at 740.²

² When the PCR court finds that an applicant is not entitled to appellate review pursuant to *White v. State*, 263 S.C. 110, 208 S.E.2d 35 (1974), the applicant may petition the South Carolina Supreme Court for a writ of certiorari. *Davis v. State*, 288 S.C. 290, 291, 342 S.E.2d 60 (1986). “*Davis* promulgates procedural guidelines for review of PCR cases in which a petitioner’s knowing and intelligent waiver of the right to direct appeal is at issue. *White* permits consideration of the full trial record on this issue in conjunction with appellate review of the PCR proceeding under an exception to the prohibition against appellate courts considering appeals in the absence of notice of direct appeal given and timely served.” *Smith v. State*, 309 S.C. 413, 414-15, 424 S.E.2d 480, 481 (1992).

The court erred where it found counsel provided effective representation despite counsel's failure to assert petitioner's right to a speedy trial, where drugs were found in 2012 but the state did not arrest petitioner until 2015 and did not try petitioner until 2018, since the delay violated petitioner's constitutional right to a speedy trial.

“The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution provides, ‘In all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right to a speedy and public trial.’ U.S. CONST. amend. VI. Similarly, the South Carolina Constitution provides that ‘Any person charged with an offense shall enjoy the right to a speedy and public trial.’ S.C. Const. art. I, § 14.” *State v. Hunsberger*, 418 S.C. 335, 342, 794 S.E.2d 368, 371 (2016). The right to a speedy trial is “fundamental.” *Barker v. Wingo*, 407 U.S. 514, 515 (1972).

Some of the factors which courts should assess in determining whether a defendant has been deprived of his right to a speedy trial are: “Length of delay, the reason for the delay, the defendant’s assertion of his right, and prejudice to the defendant.” *Barker*, 407 U.S. at 530.

The “triggering mechanism” of a speedy trial claim is the length of the delay. *State v. Langford*, 400 S.C. 421, 442, 735 S.E.2d 471, 482 (2012). “An accused’s speedy trial right begins when he is indicted, arrested, or otherwise officially accused.” *Hunsberger*, 418 S.C. at 342 (internal quotations omitted) (quoting *Langford*, 400 S.C. at 442, 735 S.E.2d at 482).

Although there is no fixed time in which a defendant must be tried, the right to a speedy trial may be violated where the delay is “arbitrary and unreasonable.” *State v. Waites*, 270 S.C. 104, 108, 240 S.E.2d 651, 653 (1978). In *Doggett v. U.S.*, 505 U.S. 647, (1992), “the United States Supreme Court suggested in dicta that a delay of more than a year is ‘presumptively prejudicial.’” *State v. Cooper*, 386 S.C. 210, 217, 687 S.E.2d 62, 66 (Ct. App.

2009). *Accord Langford*, 400 S.C. at 442-43, 735 S.E.2d at 482 (twenty-three month delay between arrest and trial was presumptively prejudicial length of time). When the length of time is presumptively prejudicial, it “triggers the remaining *Barker* inquiry.” *Id.*

Here, the length of the delay was three years. Petitioner was arrested on February 11, 2015, he was indicted on February 16, 2016, and he was tried February 5 – 6, 2018. App. 282, l. 11 – 283, l. 12; App. 1; App. 319 – 326; App. 262, l. 17 – 263, l. 17. This time frame weighs in favor of petitioner, is presumptively prejudicial and triggers the speedy trial analysis with regard to the remaining three factors: (2) the reason for the delay; (3) the defendant’s assertion of the right; and, (4) prejudice to the defendant.

As to the second *Barker* factor, the reason for the delay was unclear. Although counsel said he thought petitioner had charges in Florida and had to be extradited, petitioner explained that while he had been in Florida, he remained in Spartanburg after his arrest and until his trial. App. 283, ll. 2-17; App. 262, l. 25 – 263, l. 12. There was no evidence that petitioner fought extradition. Further, when the solicitor recited petitioner’s criminal record at sentencing, his last conviction in Florida was in 2008. App. 222, l. 23 – 223, l. 6. Because counsel did not challenge the state’s failure to try petitioner in a timely manner, the record is silent as to any reason the state had to delay trying the case. This factor is neutral and should not weigh against petitioner since the reason for the delay was unclear.

As to the third *Barker* factor—whether the defendant asserted the right—his counsel’s failure to assert the right by moving for a speedy trial forms the basis for petitioner’s claim of ineffective assistance of counsel.

As to the fourth *Barker* factor, petitioner was prejudiced by the three year delay between arrest and trial. Prejudice to the defendant should be viewed in light of the defendant’s interest

“(i) to prevent oppressive pretrial incarceration; (ii) to minimize anxiety and concern of the accused; and (iii) to limit the possibility that the defense will be impaired.” *Barker*, 407 U.S. at 532. “[E]ven if an accused is not incarcerated prior to trial, he is still disadvantaged by restraints on his liberty and by living under a cloud of anxiety, suspicion, and often hostility.” *Id.* at 533.

“The United States Supreme Court also recognized that excessive delay presumptively compromises the reliability of a trial in ways that neither party can prove or even identify.” *State v. Hunsberger*, 418 S.C. at 351, 794 S.E.2d at 376 (citing *Doggett*, 505 U.S. at 655). Counsel’s failure to advocate for a speedy trial on behalf of petitioner likely compromised the trial in ways that are impossible to identify due to temporal remoteness.

The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution guarantees an accused the right to effective assistance of counsel. U.S. CONST. amend. VI; *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). Appellate courts of other states have found that failure to demand a speedy trial may be ineffective assistance of counsel. *See Brown v. State*, 829 So. 2d 975, 976 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 2002); *Hilliard v. State*, 175 So. 3d 554, 559 (Miss. Ct. App. 2015); *Yocum v. State*, 107 So. 3d 219, 224 (Ala. Crim. App. 2011).