STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

---

CERTIORARI TO GREENVILLE COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas  
Alex Kinlaw, Jr., Post-Conviction Relief Judge  
Edward W. Miller, Trial Judge

---

**RECEIVED**

JAN 16 2020

S.C. SUPREME COURT

---

Appellate Case No. 2019-000072

---

LORGIO MORALES,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

---

**RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

JANELL H. GREGORY  
Assistant Attorney General  
SC Bar No. 103176

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211  
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT



STATEMENT OF ISSUE.....1

ALAN WILSON  
ATTORNEY GENERAL

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

## ARGUMENT

### **I. The post-conviction court properly found Counsel was not constitutionally ineffective for failing to file an appeal where Petitioner was clearly aware of his right to appeal and failed to notify Counsel that he wished to pursue a direct appeal after his conviction.**

Petitioner alleges the post-conviction relief court erred in finding Counsel was not ineffective for failing to file an appeal on Petitioner's behalf because Petitioner did not knowingly and intelligently waive his right to appeal, and therefore, Counsel should have initiated an appeal to comply with Anders v. California, 386 U.S. 738 (1967). However, Petitioner was fully aware of his right to appeal and failed to request Counsel file an appeal on his behalf. According to Petitioner's own testimony, Petitioner did not attempt to request an appeal until after he transferred to Kirkland, despite being fully aware of his right to appeal. Counsel cannot be found to be deficient for failing to file an appeal he did not know Petitioner wanted to pursue. The post-conviction relief court properly found Counsel was not constitutionally ineffective and this Court should deny certiorari.

Counsel has a constitutionally-imposed duty to consult with defendant about appeal when there is reason to think either (1) that rational defendant would want to appeal (for example, because there are **nonfrivolous grounds** for appeal), or (2) that this particular defendant reasonably demonstrated to counsel that he was interested in appealing. In making this determination, courts must take into account all the information counsel knew or should have known.

Roe v. Flores-Ortega, 528 U.S. 470 (2000) (emphasis added). Although Petitioner claims there is no evidence Counsel made certain he was fully aware of his right to appeal, based on Petitioner's testimony, he was aware of his right to appeal as he made the decision to file an appeal after getting to Kirkland; however, he failed to inform Counsel of that decision. (App. 265.) Counsel credibly testified Petitioner never asked him to file an appeal. (App. 280.) Counsel also credibly testified had Petitioner requested an appeal, he would have filed one on his behalf. (App. 280.) Counsel

further testified there were **no meritorious grounds** for Petitioner to pursue on appeal. (App. 280.) In evaluating Counsel’s effectiveness, courts must “judge the reasonableness of counsel’s challenged conduct on the facts of the particular case, viewed as of the time of counsel’s conduct, and judicial scrutiny of counsel’s performance must be highly deferential.” Id. at 477, (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 688-690). Counsel’s performance was reasonable under the circumstances as it is reasonable to believe a defendant who is fully aware of his right to appeal, yet fails to request an appeal, and has no meritorious grounds to pursue on appeal, does not want to pursue an appeal.

Further, after Petitioner’s conviction, the trial court had the following exchange with Petitioner:

**Court:** All right. I want you to know that you have an absolute right to appeal this. You’ve got to let your attorney know as soon as possible so he can get the paperwork done. You understand this?

**Petitioner:** Yes, sir.

(App. 223.) Despite being informed of the time sensitivity, Petitioner failed to request Counsel file his direct appeal while in court with Counsel or before being transported to Kirkland where Petitioner claims he had “no way” to contact Counsel. (App. 265.)

Petitioner was fully aware of his right to appeal, however, failed to express to Counsel his interest in pursuing an appeal. Counsel acted reasonably under the circumstances as Petitioner failed to request an appeal, despite being told by the court to do so “as soon as possible,” and Counsel believed there were no meritorious grounds for Petitioner to pursue on appeal. Therefore, the post-conviction relief court properly found Counsel was not ineffective for failing to file an appeal. This Court should deny certiorari.

**II. The post-conviction court properly found Counsel was not constitutionally ineffective for failing to assert Petitioner's right to a speedy trial as the delay in Petitioner's trial was due in part to Petitioner's extradition from Florida and Petitioner failed to show how he was prejudiced by any delay as he was out on bond up until his trial and failed to present any evidence showing the delay affected his ability to prepare and present a defense at trial.**

Petitioner alleges Counsel was ineffective for failing to assert Petitioner's right to a speedy trial as Petitioner claims there was a delay in his trial that violated his constitutional right to a speedy trial. Petitioner asserts he was arrested in 2015 and not tried until 2018. However, the delay in Petitioner's trial was due, in part, to Petitioner's extradition from Florida to South Carolina. Additionally, Counsel credibly testified Petitioner was out on bond up until his trial, never requested Counsel file a speedy trial motion, and Counsel did not believe such a motion was necessary in Petitioner's case. Further, Counsel credibly testified Petitioner was "absolutely not" prejudiced by any alleged delay and Petitioner failed to present any evidence at the evidentiary hearing showing he was prejudice by any alleged delay in his case. (App. 283.) Therefore, the post-conviction relief court properly denied and dismissed this allegation and this Court should deny certiorari.

The Sixth Amendment of the United States Constitution provides that an accused shall enjoy a speedy trial. This constitutional right has been applied to the states, through the Fourteenth Amendment, in Klopfer v. North Carolina, 386 U.S. 213 (1967) and recognized by this Court in Wheeler v. State, 247 S.C. 393, 147 S.E.2d 627 (1966). The constitutional guarantee of a speedy trial affords protection only against unnecessary or unreasonable delay. State v. Chapman, 289 S.C. 42, 45, 344 S.E.2d 611, 613 (1986) (citing State v. Waites, 270 S.C. 104, 240 S.E.2d 651 (1978); Wheeler v. State, 247 S.C. 393, 147 S.E.2d 627 (1966)). "[A] speedy trial does not mean an immediate one; it does not imply undue haste, for the [S]tate, too, is entitled to a reasonable time in which to prepare its case; it simply means a trial without unreasonable and unnecessary

delay.” State v. Langford, 400 S.C. 421, 441, 735 S.E.2d 471, 481-82 (2012), reh'g denied (Dec. 20, 2012) (citing Wheeler). “The clock starts running on a defendant’s speedy trial right when he is ‘indicted, arrested, or otherwise officially accused,’ and therefore we include the time between arrest and indictment. Id. (quoting United States v. MacDonald, 456 U.S. 1, 6 (1982)). “This right ‘is designed to minimize the possibility of lengthy incarceration prior to trial, to reduce the lesser, but nevertheless substantial, impairment of liberty imposed on an accused while released on bail, and to shorten the disruption of life caused by arrest and the presence of unresolved criminal charges.” State v. Pittman, 373 S.C. 527, 549, 647 S.E.2d 144, 155 (2007) (citing United States v. MacDonald, 456 U.S. 1, 8 (1982)). Deprivation of the right to speedy trial does not *per se* prejudice the accused’s ability to defend himself. “In determining whether a defendant has been deprived of the right to a speedy trial, the court must consider four factors: 1) length of the delay; 2) reason for the delay; 3) the defendant’s assertion of the right; and 4) prejudice to the defendant.” Barker v. Wingo, 407 U.S. 514, 530, (1972). Analyzing Petitioner’s case under the Barker factors, Petitioner has failed to show this Court he was deprived of his right to a speedy trial.

Here, Petitioner was arrested in February of 2015, indicted in February of 2016, and his trial commenced in February of 2018. The State told the trial court, “[Petitioner] was extradited from Miami in 2015, which is one reason why this case is so old.” (App. 224.) “Although there is no fixed time in which a defendant must be tried, the right to a speedy trial may be violated where the delay is arbitrary or unreasonable.” Pittman, 373 S.C. at 549, 647 S.E.2d at 156. During the evidentiary hearing, Counsel credibly testified Petitioner was in Miami for “a decent period of time” and he didn’t believe “there was a three year lapse between when they, initially, brought him up to Greenville to when they had the trial.” (App. 279, 283.) As this Court stated in Pittman, Petitioner’s contribution to the delay should be weighed in evaluating whether there

has been a violation of his Sixth Amendment right to a speedy trial. Pittman, 373 S.C. at 550, 647 S.E.2d at 155 (citing State v. Waites, 270 S.C. 104, 240 S.E.2d 651, 653 (1978)). Petitioner has failed to show any delay in his case was arbitrary or unreasonable.

Further, Counsel credibly testified Petitioner never asked him to file a speedy trial motion. (App. 279.)

The defendant's assertion of his speedy trial right is entitled to strong evidentiary weight in determining whether the right is being deprived; failure to assert the right will make it difficult for a defendant to prove that he was denied a speedy trial.

Barker, 407 U.S. at 532. Counsel also credibly testified he did not feel a speedy trial motion was necessary in Petitioner's case. (App. 279.)

Here, there are no allegations before this Court indicating the delay was intentional on behalf of the Solicitor's Office in order to hinder Petitioner's ability to present a defense to his charges.

The ultimate responsibility for the trial of a criminal defendant rests with the State. Therefore, the court should weigh heavily against the State any intentional delays to impede the defense. Where the reason for delay is more neutral, the court should weigh it less heavily against the State. A valid reason presented by the State may justify an appropriate delay. However, the Court must also consider and weigh the defendant's contribution to the delay in determining whether the defendant's Sixth Amendment rights have been violated.

Pittman, 373 S.C. at 549, 647 S.E.2d at 155. There was an extensive amount of evidence recovered from the marijuana grow operation inside the warehouse. The warehouse had eight rooms with marijuana plants in various stages of growth throughout the building. (App. 303.) Law enforcement recovered ninety fingerprints<sup>1</sup>, seized nearly 700 plants, along with chemicals,

---

<sup>1</sup> Petitioner's fingerprints matched thirty of the ninety prints recovered by law enforcement.

equipment, and packing material. (App. 303-304.) “. . . [T]he delay that can be tolerated for an ordinary street crime is considerably less than for a serious, complex conspiracy charge. Barker, 407 U.S. at 531. Petitioner’s case is certainly not an “ordinary street crime” based on the extensive grow operation law enforcement discovered in the warehouse and the amount of evidence the State seized and processed. Counsel testified he has handled a lot of drug cases, but doesn’t recall handling one “this big.” (App. 281.)

Further, Petitioner has failed to show any alleged delay affected his ability to present a defense in his case. Counsel testified their defense strategy was a mere presence defense since Petitioner’s fingerprints were found inside the warehouse. (App. 289.) Counsel testified it was “the only strategy I really had in this case. I didn’t have an alibi. I didn’t have anyone that could come forward and say, oh, yeah, that’s somebody else. The fingerprints were the most important part of the case because there were so many fingerprints.” (App. 289.) The ability for Petitioner to assert a mere presence defense at trial was not harmed by any alleged delay in his trial. Petitioner did not present any testimony or evidence at the evidentiary hearing showing any witnesses or evidence he was unable to call or utilize because of an alleged delay in his trial.

Additionally, as state above, the right to a speedy trial “is designed to minimize the possibility of lengthy incarceration prior to trial[.]” State v. Pittman, 373 S.C. 527, 549, 647 S.E.2d 144, 155 (2007) (citing United States v. MacDonald, 456 U.S. 1, 8 (1982)). Here, Petitioner testified he was out on bond for the majority of the time prior to trial. (App. 267.)

In analyzing Petitioner’s case under the Barker factors, Petitioner has failed to show he was denied his right to a speedy trial. First, Petitioner’s extradition from Florida was a factor his trial not being able to start until February 2018. Second, Petitioner’s case was a complex drug trafficking case involving an extensive amount of evidence, which could have attributed to any

alleged delay. Third, Petitioner failed to request Counsel file a speedy trial motion and Counsel credibly testified he did not feel a speedy trial motion was necessary. Finally, Petitioner failed to show how he was prejudiced by Counsel's failure to file a speedy trial motion, especially since Counsel credibly testified Petitioner was "absolutely not" prejudiced by any alleged delay in his trial. (App. 283.) As such, the post-conviction relief court properly denied Petitioner relief in this case and this Court should deny certiorari.

### CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the petition for a writ of certiorari should be denied. Should this Court grant the petition for writ of certiorari, Respondent requests permission to more fully brief the issues herein.